**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

DEC 2 2014

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Cherokee County  
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No: 2014-001544  
\_\_\_\_\_

The State,

Petitioner,

vs.

Kevin Tyrone Bennett,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No: 68571

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

**ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER**

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court did not err in denying the motion for directed verdict on the charge of burglary and the Court of Appeals errantly relied on its own alternate hypothesis in contradiction to established federal and state precedent that indicates a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Bennett was indicted for second-degree burglary, petit larceny, and malicious damage to real property. Bennett was tried by jury and convicted as charged following trial on January 24-25, 2012. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, sentenced Bennett to ten years imprisonment.

Bennett appealed his conviction and sentence. Following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed the convictions and sentences on May 28, 2014, finding that the trial court should have granted directed verdict on all charges. State v. Bennett, 408 S.C. 302, 758 S.E.2d 743 (Ct. App. 2014). The State filed its petition for rehearing on June 3, 2014. The Court of Appeals denied the petition by order filed June 19, 2014. This petition follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Bennett was convicted for the nighttime burglary of the C.C. Woodson Community Center. He left his finger prints and blood behind: the finger prints were on a television that appeared to have been manipulated, and the blood, matching his DNA, was found on the wall immediately below where a stolen television had been mounted on the wall.

Officer Frank Osrechek was the first officer to respond after the alarm went off at the community center at about 3:30 a.m. He found a window smashed out and the door adjacent to the window broken. The glass was shattered "in thousands of pieces."<sup>1</sup> Officer Osrechek applied fingerprint dust to a number of items. He was able to lift prints from a television mounted on the wall in the community room. It appeared the television was manipulated as if someone was trying to remove it. On cross-examination, Officer Osrechek explained: "I focused on that television because it, it appeared to have been tampered with. It was resting in an unnatural position."<sup>2</sup> There were chairs placed below the television. In the computer room, there were holes in the wall and mounting anchors on the floor where it appeared a television had been. ROA. pp. 7-15; p. 21; p. 24; pp. 26-27.

Officer Steve McClure also responded to the community center. Surveying the computer room, it appeared a computer was missing. There were two chairs out of place against the wall as if someone was using them as leverage. They were underneath where a television had been. Officer McClure also recovered a tire iron from the

---

<sup>1</sup> ROA. p. 11, lines 20-22.

<sup>2</sup> ROA p. 21, lines 10-12.

computer room. ROA. pp. 27-31.

The director of the community center, Olivia Sartor testified. She confirmed that a television, a computer monitor, and keyboard were all stolen. She testified the community center's hours were 6 a.m. to 9 p.m. While the community center room is not locked when not in use, it is not a room open to the public or for people to merely sit and socialize. It is only used for scheduled events. Sartor saw Bennett in the community center several times before the burglary, but never in the community room. Usually there were group meetings at the time he was commonly at the center, such as the senior citizens craft group or bridge group. He was not involved in any of the activities in the community room and the only program he was involved in at the center was in the computer lab. Sartor was monitoring him when he was in the hall or computer room. ROA. pp. 41-48.

She testified to the following:

Q: Do you routinely monitor people who are in the building?

A: Well, I usually monitor people who seem suspicious to me, that really don't have a purpose, and Mr. Bennett normally walked through the building and he actually ended up going to the computer lab because I suggested that he pick a particular program to be a part of.

ROA. p. 50, lines 11-15.

She noticed abrasions on the wall by the television set in the community room where it appeared something was used in an attempt to pry the television set from its mount. ROA. p. 51.

Chris Banks from the Spartanburg Public Safety Department arrived at 9:30 a.m.

for a follow up investigation to determine if anything was missed. He found two small droplets of blood located two inches below where the stolen television in the computer lab had been. It was about one and half to two feet above the chairs propped underneath the television. ROA. pp. 53-56.

The DNA analyst determined that the DNA in the blood was a one in seventeen quintillion match to Bennett's DNA. ROA. p. 95. The fingerprints on the television in the community center matched Bennett's prints. ROA. pp. 116-118; p. 136.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court did not err in denying the motion for directed verdict on the charge of burglary, and the Court of Appeals errantly relied on its own alternate hypothesis in contradiction to established federal and state precedent that indicates a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.**

Our system of justice favors leaving the determination of guilt to a jury of laymen, an ingenious and time-worn system based on the premise that jurors have a superior collective wisdom through their life experience than even well-educated, well-seasoned professionals. The Court of Appeals' published opinion serves to undermine the jury's role in our criminal justice system because it weighs the evidence and relies on alternate hypotheses to explain circumstantial evidence – two things our federal and state case law advises trial courts not to do.

When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the reviewing court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id. If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. McGowan, 347 S.C. 618, 622, 557 S.E.2d 657, 659 (2001).

Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable

doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

The United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, **and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.**

Jackson, at 319 (second emphasis added).

This Court recently articulated the following concerning the standard of review:

The trial court should grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to the guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. On the other hand, a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.

State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (quoting State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004) (citations and internal quotations omitted)); see also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”). This is consistent with the United States Supreme Court’s observation concerning circumstantial evidence:

Admittedly, circumstantial evidence may in some cases point to a wholly incorrect result. Yet this is equally true of testimonial evidence. In both instances, a jury is asked to weigh the chances that the evidence correctly points to guilt against the possibility of inaccuracy or ambiguous inference. In both, the jury must use its experience with people and events in weighing the probabilities. If the jury is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt we can require no

more.

Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 137-38 (1955) *cited with approval in Jackson*, at 317 n.9.

In the instant case, the question is whether the State offered substantial circumstantial evidence of Bennett's identity sufficient for a rational juror to return a verdict. *See Jackson*; State v. Lane, 406 S.C. 118, 121, 749 S.E.2d 165, 167 (Ct. App. 2013) (noting the State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the defendant as the person committing the crime or crimes) *reversed by State v. Karl Lane*, Op. No. 27464 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed November 12, 2014) (finding "in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, which we are constrained to do, the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of Respondent's guilt").

In the instant case, a window was shattered leaving a thousand pieces of glass. Droplets of Bennett's blood were found directly under a stolen television. This evidence creates a strong inference that Bennett cut himself with glass and left blood under the television set he stole. Additionally, the community room in which his fingerprints were found was not open to the public, but only available for meetings of groups he was uninvolved with. The State's evidence indicates he was never in the community room during regular operating hours and would not be allowed in the room merely to hang out or watch television. The television he left his fingerprints on appeared to have been manipulated as if someone was attempting to remove it and two chairs were placed below the television as if the burglar was standing on them during the attempt to remove the television.

The Court of Appeals succinctly summarized the evidence of identity: (1) fingerprints found in the community room on the television that appeared to have been

manipulated and (2) two droplets of blood matching Bennett's DNA immediately below where the missing television was mounted. However, the Court of Appeals errantly weighed the evidence after acknowledging its existence, holding as follows:

However, it is uncontroverted that Bennett was a frequent visitor to the Center prior to the crime, spending much of his time in the computer room. Additionally, while the director of the Center testified she was in the habit of monitoring Bennett when he was at the Center, she acknowledged that she typically left the Center at least one hour before it closed at night and she was not able to monitor Bennett when she was not at the Center. Further, though she directed Bennett to the computer room and did not see him participating in the group activities such as the afterschool programs and Senior Citizen programs held in the community room earlier in the day, she agreed there were other groups which met in the room at night and she was not typically at the Center the last hour it was open. The director also acknowledged the community room door was not always locked, and the scheduling of the activities in the community room would not control who had access to the room. Thus we cannot say it would be unexpected to find Bennett's DNA in the computer room<sup>3</sup> and his fingerprint in the community room.

Bennett, 408 S.C. at \_\_\_\_, 758 S.E.2d at 745-46.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial court should have granted directed verdict because it weighed the evidence and considered whether other arguably reasonable hypotheses could be excluded. This Court made clear that "a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis." Hepburn, at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409. The State offered evidence that the community center was not open for individuals to merely loiter in, but was for groups. Bennett took a computer class in the computer room, but no evidence indicated he was involved in any of

---

<sup>3</sup> This analysis leaves out one important fact – it was not merely DNA evidence found in the computer room, but Bennett's blood.

the groups meeting in the community room.<sup>4</sup> The State was not required to prove that Bennett furtively entered the community room during regular hours to place his hands on the television.

Further, while Bennett may have been in the computer room on prior occasions, leaving blood behind is hardly a common event, and its placement right below where the stolen television was located carries special significance. The most reasonable conclusion was that this blood was left during the burglary. The jury was not irrational for reaching this conclusion.

The Court of Appeals further erred because it failed to recognize that the evidentiary value of both of these pieces of evidence combined signified greater evidence than the sum value of each alone. It is simply compelling proof that Bennett's fingerprint was found on an item the thief attempted to steal and at the same time Bennett's blood was found immediately below where another item was actually taken in another room.

The problem is in the present case, the Court of Appeals required more than what Hepburn, Jackson, and Holland require – it required the State to show someone was observing Bennett at all times in case he snuck into the community room and required the State to prove that his blood did not end up underneath the location of the stolen television by some unknown (and unlikely) innocent means.

As a practical matter, Bennett would need to suffer an incredible series of unfortunate events to innocently leave behind such well-placed evidence to be

---

<sup>4</sup> Sartor testified that Bennett “mainly participated in our computer lab. He didn’t go in or do anything in the other rooms.” ROA, p. 46, lines 6-7. Putting the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence is he did not go in or do anything in the community room until he committed the burglary. State v. Creech, 314 S.C. 76, 441 S.E.2d 635, 638 (Ct. App. 1994) (upon a motion for directed verdict, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State).

misinterpreted. The jury is not irrational to conclude this imagined series of unfortunate events did not occur but instead find the evidence firmly established Bennett's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court did not err in allowing the jury to determine Bennett's guilt.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals' opinion should be reversed. The convictions and sentences should be affirmed.