ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN 12 2015

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

KEVIN TYRONE BENNETT,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001544

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

QUESTION PRESENTED BY THE STATE

The trial court did not err in denying the motion for directed verdict on the charge of burglary and the Court of Appeals errantly relied on its own alternate hypothesis in contradiction to established federal and state precedent that indicates a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.

ALTERNATE QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals correctly reversed respondent's burglary conviction because the State only proved that respondent was present at a public place where a crime occurred, which did not amount to substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt?

## STATEMENT

In February 2011, Kevin Bennett (“Bennett”) was indicted for burglary of a building, second degree; petit larceny; and malicious injury to real property causing less than \$2,000.00 worth of damage. R.142. On January 24 - 25, 2012, Bennett was tried in Spartanburg County before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III and a jury. R. 1. Beverly Jones represented Bennett. R. 1. Dan Cude represented the State. R. 1. The jury found Bennett guilty on all three charges. R. 138, l. 19 – 139, l. 6. Judge Hayes sentenced Bennett to ten years’ imprisonment on each conviction, to run concurrently. R. 141, ll. 8 - 14. Bennett appealed.

On December 12, 2013, a panel of the Court of Appeals consisting of Judges Huff, Geathers, and Lockemy heard oral argument in this case. App. 182. On May 28, 2014, the court reversed Bennett’s convictions in a published opinion authored by Judge Huff. App. 182. State v. Bennett, 408 S.C. 302, 758 S.E.2d 743 (Ct. App. 2014). On June 14, 2014, the court denied the State’s petition for rehearing. App. 193. This Court granted the State’s petition for certiorari.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly reversed respondent's burglary conviction because the State only proved that respondent was present at a public place where a crime occurred, which did not amount to substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt.

### **Relevant Facts**

No eyewitnesses saw the break-in at the C.C. Woodson Community Center. No surveillance cameras captured any footage of the burglar. No confessions or statements were obtained from any suspect. No cell phone data was introduced to show the defendant's location at the time of the break-in. The police never recovered any items stolen from the community center, much less tied any items to the defendant. The evidence introduced against Bennett proved only that he had been in a public place he was known to frequent and where he had a right to be.

On November 17, 2010, someone burgled the C.C. Woodson Community Center in Spartanburg. R. 8, l. 19 – 9, l. 4. Officer Frank Osrechek of the Spartanburg City Police Department responded because of an alarm activation at approximately 3:30 AM. R. 9, ll. 5 – 9. He found a smashed window and a broken door adjacent to the window. R. 9, ll. 10 – 12. Another policeman found a tire iron in the community center's computer room. R. 31, ll. 17 – 19. A television, computer, and computer monitor were missing from the community center. R. 43, l. 18 – 44, l. 18. The missing television had been mounted on a wall and police found chairs from the computer desks underneath where the television had been. R. 31, ll. 8 – 19. Another television appeared to be in an unnatural position. R. 21, ll. 9 – 24.

The State presented no direct evidence that Bennett committed any crime. The State produced only two pieces of circumstantial evidence. First, a fingerprint expert testified that a single fingerprint lifted from one of the televisions at the center matched Bennett's index finger. R.

117, ll. 18 – 23. Second, a DNA expert testified that Bennett’s DNA matched a spot of blood found on the wall of the computer room. R. 95, ll. 20 – 25.

At the close of the State’s case, Bennett moved for a directed verdict on the ground that the fingerprint and blood sample were insufficient to convict Bennett. R. 136, ll. 3 – 11. Judge Hayes denied the motion. R. 136, l. 24 – 137, l. 5. Bennett renewed his motion after the verdict and Judge Hayes again denied the motion. R. 139, l. 25 – 140, l. 9.

### Discussion

The State attempts to create a legal controversy where none exists. The State couches its question presented and its analysis in terms of whether the Court of Appeals used an incorrect legal analysis. The State contends that the Court of Appeals “relied on its own alternate hypothesis” and used the “alternate hypothesis” test when examining the sufficiency of the evidence. The Court of Appeals did no such thing.

In its opinion, the court stated, “The trial court is not, however, required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.” App. 185. The court cited this Court’s precedent: that a directed verdict should be granted “if the State fails to produce substantial circumstantial evidence the defendant committed a particular crime. . . .” App. 185, *citing State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011). The State claims the Court of Appeals used its own alternate hypothesis to reverse, but **never identifies** this phantom alternate hypothesis. Nowhere in its opinion does the court manufacture an alternate hypothesis.

This case is instead about the straightforward application of existing precedent: the question of how much circumstantial evidence qualifies as “substantial.” No dispute exists about the only two pieces of evidence against Bennett: (1) the fingerprint on the television in the

community room; and (2) the drop of blood in the computer room which yielded Bennett's DNA. The dispute is whether these two pieces of evidence—collected from a public place where Bennett had a right to be—are sufficient to support a conviction. It was undisputed that the community center was open to the public from 6:00 am to 9:00 pm Monday through Friday and also on the weekends. R. 42, ll. 3 – 23. Bennett had been in the community center several times before the crime. R. 45, ll. 19 – 24. The doors to the room where Bennett's fingerprint was found on the television—the “community room”—were not always locked and events were frequently scheduled in that room. R. 44, ll. 16 – 25. Additional fingerprints were found on the television that were “insufficient” for comparison. R. 16, ll. 20 – 23. The police did not try to lift any fingerprints from the other television in the community room. R. 20, l. 20 – 21, l. 12.

The first policeman on the scene (who found the fingerprint) also looked for evidence in the computer room. R. 25, ll. 7 – 23. He did not notice any blood. R. 25, ll. 7 – 23. The officer charged with processing the computer room for evidence conducted an extensive examination, but did not notice any blood. R. 37, ll. 11 – 20. It was not until after 9:30 the next morning—six hours after the crime—that an officer with Spartanburg's burglary task force examined the community center that “two small droplets of blood” were found two inches below the mount for the television in the computer room. R. 56, ll. 2 – 17. This officer did not find any blood at the entry point where glass had been broken. R. 55, ll. 6 – 14. Two or three employees of the community center were already at work when the blood spots were found. R. 61, ll. 20 – 21. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed because this “evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty.” Odems, 395 S.C. 586, 720 S.E.2d 50 (citation omitted).

The circumstantial evidence in this case is similar to other appellate decisions finding directed verdicts were appropriate. The evidence in this case most resembles State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000). In Mitchell, a burglary case, the only evidence that the defendant committed the crime was a fingerprint on a screen near a broken window. It was undisputed that the defendant had been in the victim's home on several prior occasions. Id. The Court concluded that the fingerprint was evidence only that the defendant had been "in and around the victim's house" and was insufficient to prove burglary. Id. Similarly, Bennett's fingerprint and DNA in a public place that he undisputedly frequented before the crime are insufficient to prove he committed a crime. Just like Mitchell, the evidence in this case merely proves that Bennett was in a place where he had a right to be and was known to be. As the Court of Appeals put it, the evidence "undoubtedly placed Bennett at the *location where a crime ultimately occurred.*" App. 186 (emphasis in original).

This Court's recent reversal of the Court of Appeals in a directed verdict case shows the distinction between evidence that a suspect was at the scene of the crime compared to evidence showing a suspect was at a place where a crime occurred. State v. Lane, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, 765 S.E.2d 557 (2014). In Lane, the evidence showed the defendant was in a place where he did not have a right to be at the time a crime occurred. Id. Firearms were stolen from the victim's home. Id. A neighbor saw a distinctively colored car that matched the defendant's car on the afternoon of the burglary. Id. The victim found a piece of paper with information that identified the defendant—who admitted the paper was his. Id. at 557-58. This evidence showed that the defendant was present **on the victim's private property** on the day the crime occurred. The defendant had no right to be at the victim's home. Unlike Lane, Bennett not only had a right to

be at the community center, he was seen there on multiple occasions when he attended his computer class.

Forensic evidence found in a public place or place where the defendant was known to be is routinely held insufficient—without evidence of when it was left—to uphold a conviction. See C.E. v. State, 665 So.2d 1097, 1098 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1996) (“Where fingerprint evidence found at the scene is relied upon to establish identity, the evidence must be such that the print could have been made only when the crime was committed.”); Lee v. State, 640 So.2d 126, 127 (1994) (holding fingerprints on broken window pane at burglarized church were insufficient to sustain a conviction); State v. Bass, 278 S.E.2d 209, 212 (N.C. 1981) (“[W]hen the State relies on fingerprints found at the scene of the crime, in order to withstand motion for nonsuit, there must be substantial evidence of circumstances from which the jury can find that the fingerprints could have been impressed only at the time the crime was committed.”); Commonwealth v. Cichy, 323 A.2d 817, 818-19 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1974) (holding fingerprints on pack of cigarettes found near robbery site were insufficient); Graves v. State, 43 S.W.2d 953, 954 (Tex. Crim. App. 1931) (holding fingerprints in employer’s office where employees other than defendant had access not shown to be made at time of burglary).

In C.E. v. State, the burglarized vehicle was parked inside the sheriff’s parking lot. C.E. v. State, 665 So.2d at 1098. In a situation very similar to the community room in this case, only police personnel had permission to enter the lot, but it was not gated and anyone could drive into the lot. Id. The defendant’s fingerprints were found on shattered glass on the vehicle. Id. In holding this evidence insufficient, the court stated, “Where the print is found in a place accessible to the general public, and there is no other evidence to show that the prints were made at the time of the crime, the defendant is entitled to a judgment of acquittal.” Id.

In a recent case, the Fourth Circuit found a fingerprint insufficient to sustain a robbery conviction. United States v. Strayhorn, 743 F.3d 917, 924 (2014). In Strayhorn, the court dealt with a fingerprint found on a moveable object—duct tape. Id. The defendant’s fingerprint was found on duct tape used to bind the robbery victims’ feet. Id. at 921. The government’s expert testified that a fingerprint could remain on duct tape for as long as a year. Id. The defendant was also apprehended in a car with a firearm stolen during the robbery. Id. at 920-21. The Fourth Circuit analyzed fingerprints on moveable objects and determined that evidence of the timing of when the fingerprint was left was necessary. Id. at 921-23. The court reversed the defendant’s conviction. Id. at 924. The moveable object analysis from Strayhorn is applicable to this case because of the timing element. Because Bennett had a right to be in the community center and was frequently seen there, it is not unexpected that his DNA and fingerprints would be found there. No evidence of when this evidence was left was presented by the State and, like in Strayhorn, the evidence is therefore lacking. See also United States v. Corso, 439 F.2d 956, 957 (1971) (holding evidence consisting solely of the defendant’s fingerprint on a book of matches found near a jimmied door was insufficient to sustain a larceny conviction).

In Odems, another burglary case, the circumstantial evidence was as follows: (1) the defendant was found in a car with the burglars and the stolen goods, (2) the defendant fled from the police, and (3) the defendant “asked an uninvolved person to lie for him” to the police. The unconvincing reason the defendant supposedly fled was because the driver told him that he had a suspended license. Odems at 585, 720 S.E.2d at 49. The evidence against the defendant in Odems is much greater than the scant evidence against Bennett. This Court held that nothing placed Odems at the scene of the crime and reversed his conviction.

Even in murder cases, this Court has reversed convictions where the circumstantial evidence was greater than in Bennett's case. In State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 389, 605 S.E.2d 529, 530-31 (2004), the defendant's fingerprint was found on a coffee cup in a car borrowed by the victim. The victim disappeared after leaving his office in Savannah, Georgia, and his body was found three days later in Colleton County. Id. at 388, 605 S.E.2d at 530. The borrowed car was found in Johnson City, Tennessee near where the defendant called another witness the day after the crime. Id. at 388-89, 605 S.E.2d at 530. The defendant and the victim had been sexual partners. Id. This Court held that a directed verdict should have been granted because the fingerprint only established that defendant "was in the borrowed [car] on the same day the victim was last seen alive." Id. at 390, 605 S.E.2d at 531. The fact that the car was found in Tennessee near the defendant only raised "a suspicion of guilt." Id. The evidence in Arnold is much stronger than in Bennett's case. The fact that the car was borrowed meant that the fingerprint placed the defendant in a car with the victim—a private place—on the day of the murder. In Bennett's case, no one could testify when the fingerprint and blood were left in the community center—a public place frequented by Bennett.

In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), another murder case, the circumstantial evidence against Bostick exceeded what the State presented against Bennett. In Bostick, the victim was found bludgeoned in a house set ablaze with gasoline. Id. at 136-37, 708 S.E.2d at 775. The victim's car keys and other items were found in a burn pile on Bostick's property. Id. at 141-42, 708 S.E.2d at 778. Bostick's shoes had gasoline on them and his clothes had blood on them. Id. at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778. While the blood excluded 99% of the population other than the victim, the DNA expert would not testify as to a "match." Id. This

Court held the above evidence was insufficient to convict Bostick and reversed. Id. Certainly the evidence in Bostick far exceeds the case against Bennett.

Ultimately, the State's evidence in this case only proves an undisputed fact: that Bennett was in the community center at some point in time before the burglary. Even viewing this evidence in a light most favorable to the State, this evidence barely raises a suspicion that Bennett committed this crime. No "substantial" circumstantial evidence ties Bennett to this crime. When compared to the above-cited cases, it is clear that the trial court erred in not granting a directed verdict.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed and Bennett's convictions should be reversed.